Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

4/19/22

Ellyn Pier

"Starved" for Services: Analyzing Perinatal Depression Resources in Georgia

By

Ellyn Pier MPH

Hubert Department of Global Health

Dr. Cari Jo Clark Committee Chair

Dr. Toby Goldsmith Committee Member "Starved" for Services: Analyzing Perinatal Depression Resources in Georgia

By

Ellyn Pier Bachelor of Arts Williams College 2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Dr. Cari Jo Clark Sc. D. M.P.H.

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health 2022

Abstract

"Starved" for Services: Analyzing Perinatal Depression Resources in Georgia

By

Ellyn Pier

Background

Perinatal depression affects infants, mothers and caregivers throughout the world. The most common complication of giving birth, perinatal depression generally requires the care of a healthcare professional in order to address the diverse symptoms and support needs of the perinatal individual. Appropriate recognition and treatment of perinatal depression is a significant healthcare need throughout the state of Georgia. Treatment accessibility is limited by resource and provider shortages throughout the state.

Purpose

In this project, I map the resources and services available to individuals at risk of or suffering from perinatal depression and evaluate the availability of supporting services among medical professionals in Georgia to provide resources and information for partner organization, PEACE for Moms.

Methods

Using a multi-pronged approach, I mapped the organizations, practitioners and programs that support mental health in perinatal populations in Georgia and disseminated a survey among healthcare providers to provide further insight on mental healthcare and resources for perinatal populations. These methods resulted in a resource map created using Zeemaps software and recommendations for PEACE for Moms based on provider feedback.

Results

Results include the high level of need for perinatal mental health resources throughout the state, though the majority of existing resources are concentrated in the Atlanta metro area. Few resources are available to this population in other areas of the state, particularly rural areas. Results also show high levels of inaccurate information regarding these resources online, and few low cost resources or services that accept insurance. Additionally, survey responses revealed low levels of awareness of the PEACE for Moms program and the particulars of its services.

Discussion

Significant access problems exist in the state of Georgia for perinatal mental health resources. Financial and geographic accessibility are causes for concern, brought up by survey respondents and supported by results in the resource map. Further program development should take place to help lower income, rural populations access these services and improve insurance coverage of mental health services. Organizations such as PEACE for Moms play an important role in improving access to mental healthcare for this population. "Starved" for Services: Analyzing Perinatal Depression Resources in Georgia

By

Ellyn Pier Bachelor of Arts Williams College 2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Dr. Cari Jo Clark Sc. D. M.P.H.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health 2022

Acknowledgements

I am grateful for all of the people who made this project possible, particularly my thesis chair Dr. Cari Jo Clark for her advice and support throughout this process and Dr. Toby Goldsmith, my thesis committee member, for her invaluable insight into PEACE for Moms, perinatal mental health in Georgia and the particular needs of this population.

I would like to thank the entire team at PEACE for Moms for all the assistance they gave me throughout the completion of this project. I have learned so much through this collaboration and am immensely grateful for the opportunity to work with and for you.

Finally, thank you to all of my mentors at Rollins and my family and friends for all of their support throughout my MPH education. I would not be where I am without you.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction1
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Table 1. Risk and Protective Factors for Perinatal Depression
Chapter 3: Methodology17
Chapter 4: Results
Table 2. Respondent Demographics
Table 3. Workplace Type27
Figure 1. County
Figure 2. Perinatal Mental Health Needs Met at Workplace
Table 4. Where Perinatal Individuals Find Support
Chapter 5: Discussion
Appendix A: Resource Map40
Appendix A1: Resource Map – Georgia40
Appendix A2: Resource Map – Detail View41
Appendix B: Survey Text
Appendix C: Survey Recruitment Materials45
References

Note: Throughout this thesis project I refer to birthing people as either pregnant individuals, perinatal individuals or individuals who have recently given birth in acknowledgement of the fact that not all birthing people identify as women or as mothers. Some research does refer to birthing people as "women" or "mothers" and any use of that terminology is a result of the limitations of the current research practice and language.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Introduction and Significance

Perinatal Mood and Anxiety Disorders

Perinatal mood and anxiety disorders (PMADs) include psychiatric disorders that occur during pregnancy and up to one year following birth. Disorders range from mild anxiety and depression to mania and psychosis (O'Hara & Wisner, 2014). In this project I will focus on perinatal depression which is defined as a mood disorder that can occur both during and after pregnancy. Perinatal depression includes depression that occurs during pregnancy, known as prenatal depression, and depression that occurs following birth, known as postpartum depression. Perinatal depression has been documented since the time of Hippocrates (O'Hara & Wisner, 2014) and can affect any pregnant or postpartum individual regardless of social status, race or ethnicity ("Perinatal Depression"). Individuals with perinatal depression experience symptoms such as sadness, fatigue and anxiety, and can struggle to care for both themselves and others ("Perinatal Depression"). Experts are calling for a greater focus on perinatal depression given the impacts it can have on mothers, infants and loved ones (O'Hara & Wisner, 2014). This project will demonstrate that in the state of Georgia, there is high need for resources to support individuals with Postpartum depression. In addition to this need, there are many barriers to accessing the resources that do exist. Efforts should be made to expand access to these resources to support a vulnerable and high-needs population.

Resources for Perinatal Depression

Treatment for perinatal depression is important not just for the perinatal individual, but also for their infant, family and community. This treatment can include resources such as therapy, medication, support groups and other interventions ("Perinatal Depression"). Clinical options for treatment include psychotherapy and antidepressant medication (Pearlstein et al., 2009). Group psychoeducation (Rouhe et al., 2015), culturally relevant interpersonal therapy sessions (Rojas-García et al., 2014), couples based interventions (Misri et al., 2000), community support interventions (Sealy et al., 2009) as well as cognitive behavioral therapy (Huang et al., 2018) are also examples of successful perinatal mental health resources. Access to resources such as these is important for this population as perinatal populations are more likely to address their mental health concerns if they have access to high quality mental health resources (Byatt et al., 2012).

PEACE for Moms Program

To address the paucity of perinatal mental health resources in the state, the Georgia state legislature provided funding for a psychiatric access program to support clinicians in caring for mothers, prospective mothers and families, educate caregivers about community resources, provide information to healthcare professionals to aid in patient treatment, train healthcare providers to recognize and treat perinatal psychiatric illness and to educate physicians about the needs of this population. The resulting program, PEACE for Moms, is a program housed in the Emory University School of Medicine Department of Psychiatry and Biomedical Sciences. It is designed to address psychiatric issues prevalent among populations that have recently given birth. PEACE stands for Perinatal psychiatry, Education, Assessment, Community Engagement, the key priorities of the initiative ("Peace for Moms"). PEACE for Moms is an initiative still in early phases of resource development. In partnering with PEACE for Moms at this time in their organizational development, I was able to provide valuable resources that had not yet been created by the organization.

Problem Statement

There is a critical lack of quality resources and resource information for perinatal mental health conditions throughout the state of Georgia. This shortage is particularly problematic in rural areas of the state and outside of the Atlanta metro area. Though certain resources do exist for this population throughout Georgia, this analysis shows that resources lists that are currently available do not provide up to date and accurate information. And, despite high risk factors in Georgia, there is little research available regarding the ways in which individuals at risk of perinatal depression can find and seek care from mental and reproductive health professionals and within their own community. This information is of vital importance as the lack of resource accessibility may result in adverse mental and physical health consequences for individuals at risk of or suffering from perinatal depression. The availability of resources has changed as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic due to lockdown measures. Therefore, research on the current resources accessible to pregnant individuals in this state is needed. Updated information of this type provides important information to organizations such as PEACE for Moms seeking to provide support to this population now and into the future.

Purpose Statement

Through a multi-method project involving resource mapping and a survey distributed to mental and reproductive health service providers throughout the state, I develop an updated resource guide for the state of Georgia for partner organization, PEACE for Moms. The Project has the following aims:

<u>Aim 1</u>: To map the resources and services available to individuals at risk of or suffering from perinatal depression in Georgia.

<u>Aim 2</u>: To identify the availability and gaps in services for perinatal populations according to medical professionals in Georgia

Definition of Terms and Abbreviations

Definition of Terms

Perinatal Depression: depression that occurs during or after pregnancy ("Perinatal Depression") **Postpartum depression:** Depression that occurs after giving birth ("Depression During and After Pregnancy")

Perinatal or postpartum mood and anxiety disorder: Mild, moderate or severe feelings of distress that occur during pregnancy or throughout the first year following pregnancy ("Perinatal or Postpartum Mood and Anxiety Disorders")

Resource mapping: A system of documenting and describing the myriad resources that exist in a community in order to create awareness and improve access to these resources (Zallman et al., 2014)

Primary Care Service Area: Collection of counties in which more than 30% of county residents receive their primary care (Zertuche & Spelke, 2013)

Abbreviations

Postpartum depression: PPD

Perinatal or postpartum mood and anxiety disorder: PMAD

Obstetrician/Gynecologist: OB/GYN

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

Perinatal mental illness is a complication that can occur during pregnancy and during the immediate postpartum period. These disorders can include anxiety disorders, mood disorders and rarely, postpartum psychosis (O'Hara & Wisner, 2014). Perinatal mental illness is generally defined as different from the "baby blues", typically a two week period of sadness or worry that follows the delivery, a natural reaction to hormonal shifts as well as the challenges and transitions following birth. When symptoms are severe or if they last longer than 2 weeks, pregnant or postpartum individuals may be diagnosed with perinatal depression ("Perinatal Depression").

Perinatal depression includes major and minor depressive episodes occurring during pregnancy or in the first year following delivery. It is one of the most common complications during this period, affecting 10-15% of women of childbearing age (Robertson et al., 2004). Traditionally, in both research and practice, there has been more emphasis placed on postpartum depression (PPD) but there are significant impacts of maternal depression both before and after birth. Although universal psychosocial assessment has not been part of routine prenatal care, evidence shows that prenatal depression can have a distinct negative impact as well (Kingston et al., 2012).

Untreated perinatal depression can have devastating implications for both the pregnant parent and the offspring, so it is essential to both diagnose and treat ("Screening for Perinatal Depression," 2018). Symptoms, generally beginning within the first 6 weeks after delivery (Robertson et al., 2004), include mood swings, crying, anxiety, sleep disruption and difficulty connecting with the child. In severe cases, postpartum depression can put the life of both mother and child at risk ("Screening for Perinatal Depression,", 2018). The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists recommends that women be given a complete assessment of mood and emotional well-being to screen for perinatal depression during key perinatal health appointments. For those patients that screen positive, maximum benefit can be achieved if they are referred to mental healthcare providers ("Screening for Perinatal Depression," 2018). Despite the critical need for diagnoses and treatment, most women never seek treatment and data have shown that only 37-65% of women with postpartum depression experience remission (De Crescenzo et al., 2014). Barriers to addressing perinatal depression include stigma, lack of obstetric provider training, lack of resources and limited access to mental health treatment (Byatt et al., 2012).

Risk Factors for Perinatal Depression

Postpartum depression symptoms are common following childbirth (Gürber et al., 2012), but there are several factors that influence risk of depression for perinatal individuals (See Table 1). Risk factors for depression during pregnancy include maternal anxiety (Lancaster et al., 2010; Tang et al., 2019) life stress, history of depression, lack of social support, unintended pregnancy, use of Medicaid insurance, domestic violence, lower income, lower education, smoking, maternal single status and poor maternal romantic relationship quality (Lancaster et al., 2010).

Anxiety and the experience of a depressed mood during pregnancy have been shown to be a significant predictor of postpartum depression (O'Hara & Swain, 1996; Robertson et al., 2004; Wilson et al., 1996). Other risk factors for postpartum depression include a traumatic birth experience (Robertson et al., 2004; Tani & Castagna, 2017), low levels of social support, prior history of depression, breastfeeding problems (Robertson et al., 2004) and preterm birth or infant admission to neonatal intensive care (Ko et al., 2017). One study found that the highest prevalence of postpartum depression occurred in women who were younger than 24 years old, were American Indian/Alaska Natives or Asian/Pacific Islanders, had less than a high school education, were unmarried or were postpartum smokers (Ko et al., 2017). Other research has shown low income to be the most relevant factor in predicting postpartum depression. Women in a lower income bracket can be four times more likely to have clinically significant symptoms of postpartum depression when compared to individuals in the highest income bracket (Segre et al., 2004).

Protective Factors

There are certain factors that have a protective influence against the development of perinatal depression (See Table 1). Perceived social support by mothers during pregnancy can play a significant role in protecting against post-partum depression and can also reduce negative clinical aspects of giving birth, leading to a better subjective birth experience and lower rates of postpartum depression. In addition, group psychoeducation for those with severe fear of childbirth can improve maternal adjustment and childbirth experience (Tani & Castagna, 2017). Women who participated in group psychoeducation reported a less fearful childbirth experience, and fewer symptoms of postnatal depression in comparison with conventional care provided to women (Rouhe et al., 2015). Targeted interventions that are relevant to an patient's particular needs have been shown to protect individuals from experiencing perinatal depression symptoms. Other studies have shown that other lifestyle changes such as exercise can be protective factors against the development of perinatal depression (Tang et al., 2019). Finally, addressing maternal distress throughout the period of pregnancy may be one of the most feasible methods for addressing the negative impacts postpartum depression can have on the infant (Kingston et al.,

2012).

Table 1. Risk and Protective Factors for Perinatal Depression			
Prenatal Depression Risk Factors	Postpartum Depression Risk Factors	Perinatal Depression Protective Factors	
Maternal anxiety (Lancaster et al., 2010; Tang et al., 2019)	Anxiety and depression during pregnancy (O'Hara & Swain, 1996; Robertson et al., 2004; Wilson et al., 1996)	Group psychoeducation (Rouhe et al., 2015)	
Lack of social support (Lancaster et al., 2010)	Lack of social support (Robertson et al., 2004)	Perceived social support (Tani & Castagna, 2017)	
History of depression (Lancaster et al., 2010)	History of depression (Robertson et al., 2004)	Targeted interventions (Tang et al., 2019)	
Lower income (Lancaster et al., 2010)	Lower Income (Segre et al., 2004)	Exercise (Tang et al., 2019)	
Lower education (Lancaster et al., 2010)	Less than a high school education (Ko et al., 2017)	Addressing distress during pregnancy (Kingston et al., 2012)	
Smoking (Lancaster et al., 2010)	Postpartum Smoking (Ko et al., 2017)		
Maternal single status (Lancaster et al., 2010)	Unmarried (Ko et al., 2017)		
Living in a rural area (Mollard et al., 2016; Vigod et al., 2013)	Living in a rural area (Mollard et al., 2016; Vigod et al., 2013)		
Life stress (Lancaster et al., 2010)	Traumatic birth experience (Robertson et al., 2004; Tani & Castagna, 2017)		
Domestic violence (Lancaster et al., 2010)	Infant admission to neonatal intensive care (Ko et al., 2017)		
Poor maternal romantic relationship quality (Lancaster et al., 2010) Unintended pregnancy (Lancaster et al., 2010)	American Indian/Alaska Natives or Asian/Pacific Islanders (Ko et al., 2017) Younger than 24 years old (Ko et al., 2017)		
Use of Medicaid insurance (Lancaster et al., 2010)	Preterm birth (Ko et al., 2017)		

Breastfeeding problems (Robertson et al., 2004)	

Impacts of Perinatal Depression

Maternal mental health is directly associated with outcomes in the child (Slomian et al., 2019). Patients with anxiety disorders are more likely to have a pre-term delivery (Hermon et al., 2019; Pavlov et al., 2014) or a cesarean section (Pavlov et al., 2014). Low birthweight in particular can both contribute to and result from perinatal depression and can have major impacts on both mother and child. Low birthweight can negatively impact infant psychological health (Baibazarova et al., 2013) and mothers of pre-term infants are at a higher risk of depression than mothers of term infants in the immediate postpartum period (Ko et al., 2017). Another study found that mothers of infants with very-low-birthweight demonstrated a continued risk throughout the first postpartum year (Vigod et al., 2010). Prenatal anxiety can also increase likelihood of developmental delay in the infant (Kingston et al., 2012; Punamäki et al., 2006; Slykerman et al., 2007). Overall, prenatal distress in the mother can have an negative impact on infant cognitive, behavioral, and psychomotor development (Kingston et al., 2012).

Postpartum depression is associated with negative impacts on maternal physical and psychological health as well as a lower quality of life (Slomian et al., 2019). Depressed mothers have been shown to be more likely to engage in risky behaviors such as smoking, and to get caught up in a vicious cycle in which they experience increasingly lowered perception of their own maternal competence (Slomian et al., 2019). Maternal depression impacts the ways mothers interact with their child (Slomian et al., 2019), mothers with postpartum depression are more likely to end breastfeeding early (Wouk et al., 2017) and to struggle to connect with the infant (Stein et al., 1991). In one study, mother child pairs in which mothers experienced a depressive disorder showed a reduced quality of interaction compared to dyads without experience of depressive disorders (Stein et al., 1991).

Perinatal Depression in Rural Areas

The care and experience of perinatal depression has shown to be distinct in urban versus rural areas (Ginja et al., 2020). In general, adults in rural areas receive less frequent mental health treatment and are less likely to see a provider with specialized training (Morales et al., 2020). Rural women are more likely to seek support from informal systems of care and are also more likely to face stigma for seeking out mental healthcare (Mollard et al., 2016). A Canadian study found that the prevalence of postpartum depression was higher among women living in urban areas than rural or semi-urban areas. However, they also found that rural women with less of a connection to urban centers were at a greater level of risk of postpartum depression than women with a connection to urban centers (Vigod et al., 2013). Globally, there is a high prevalence of perinatal depression in rural areas, though little has been done to assess that prevalence or any potential disparity in the United States (Mollard et al., 2016).

Perinatal Depression During COVID-19

Global events influence maternal mental health in myriad ways. For example, during SARS outbreak of the early 2000's, uncertainty and stigma were common, and patients reported fear, loneliness, boredom and anger (Maunder et al., 2003). The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant influence over nearly every aspect of life and medical care, and many factors have led to adverse mental health outcomes for perinatal women in the pandemic (Shidhaye et al., 2020).

Researchers have begun to analyze the ways in which COVID-19 may have impacted the experience, treatment and symptom severity of perinatal depression.

Poorer social support, fear of the virus, economic uncertainty and increases in domestic violence have all been found to lead to an increase in antenatal depression and anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic (Shidhaye et al., 2020). Several studies have found that women scored higher on the Mean Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale, which indicates poorer mental health during the pandemic compared to before (Chmielewska et al., 2021). Women experienced greater risk of psychological distress during the pandemic (Crowe & Sarma, 2022), particularly individuals of low socioeconomic status or a past history of anxiety. It has also been shown that global maternal and fetal outcomes have worsened over the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, researchers have reported increases in maternal death, maternal depression, stillbirth and ruptured ectopic pregnancies (Chmielewska et al., 2021).

The pandemic resulted in a rapid increase in the use of telehealth services, a mode of service provision shown to be an effective method to provide mental healthcare (Reay et al., 2020). Throughout the pandemic, the use of technology and mobile mental healthcare has provided much needed mental healthcare to women with perinatal mental health concerns. (Shidhaye et al., 2020). Telemedicine can improve accessibility to specialized care, allow for direct observations on parent-child interactions in the home environment and facilitate coordination between obstetric and psychiatric healthcare providers. However, telemedicine use may also increase feelings of social isolation. Further research has been recommended by experts to more fully understand the impacts of telehealth on perinatal populations (Wassef & Wassef, 2022).

There is cause for concern regarding low resource availability in the state. Almost half of the 159 counties in Georgia have no psychiatrists (McDonald, 2013) and areas of Georgia with highest rates of preterm births are also areas with the least access to OB/GYNs (Vigod et al., 2010). Georgia, despite having 3.2% of the U.S. population has only 2.3% of the nation's psychiatrists, a deficit that is reflected in other mental health professionals (Beck et al., 2018). Almost half of the counties of Georgia do not have any psychiatrists and there are only 10.9 psychiatrists per 100,000 residents (McDonald, 2013). Georgia also has a deficit of OB/GYN providers with only 10.9 OB/GYNs per 100,000 residents by 2008 (Zertuche & Spelke, 2013). Both problems are worsening, as the current OB/GYN and current psychiatrist population ages into retirement (Zertuche & Spelke, 2013). The shortage of OB/GYN providers is a problem that is most severe in rural areas of the state, with 43 of the 82 Georgia Primary Care Service Areas (PCSAs) having either an overburdening or an absence of obstetric providers (Zertuche & Spelke, 2013). This issue is a result of several key causes, including the demanding nature of the position given the low number of available physicians, a challenging legal and political environment and low reimbursement rates. This problem is unlikely to be resolved in the coming years. In a survey of OB/GYN residents in Georgia, 72% of respondents said that they were either not going to stay in the state after residency or unsure if they would stay in the state after residency. In addition, 75% of the same sample said that they were either unlikely or extremely unlikely to accept a job in rural Georgia (Zertuche & Spelke, 2013).

Risk factors for postpartum depression can be identified by medical providers during the perinatal period ("Screening for Perinatal Depression", 2018). However, Georgia's low numbers of obstetricians in rural areas limits the recognition of risk factors and symptoms in those areas

(Zertuche & Spelke, 2013). The provider shortage is associated with both low birth weight and premature births, two factors that may contribute to poor maternal health outcomes (Zertuche & Spelke, 2013). Other concerning data show that in Georgia the farther a woman is from a care provider, the more likely she will have a preterm birth and mothers of these preterm infants are at higher risk of depression (Vigod et al., 2010).

There is a state-wide deficit in Community Mental Health Services, resulting in services which often lack the trained staff to address the complex and varied needs of the perinatal population (McDonald, 2013). Community Mental Health Centers throughout the state, but particularly in rural areas, struggle to recruit and retain key healthcare providers (Walker et al., 2015).

Perinatal Depression in Georgia

There were some promising data regarding the prevalence of postpartum depression in Georgia in the early 2000's-2010's. There was a statistically significant decline in postpartum depression prevalence documented in one country-wide study. Within the study population, the percentage of new mothers with postpartum depression dropped from 17.2% in 2004 to 8% in 2012, compared to a country-wide prevalence of 11.5% (Ko et al., 2017). However, a study in 2019 found that 14.5% of mothers reported depression symptoms in the postpartum period, an increase from their reported depression symptoms before pregnancy ("PRAMS", 2019). In addition, The percentage of mothers who self-reported depression symptoms in the three months before pregnancy, during pregnancy and in the postpartum period increased between 2017 and 2019 ("PRAMS", 2019).

There are other points that indicate that a high need for perinatal mental health resources in rural Georgia. The state birthrate in the year 2020 was 36.5 live births occurring to per 1,000 females, higher on average in rural counties compared to urban counties. Additionally, rural women were more likely to be single mothers, raising a child alone or women who have chosen not to marry and are more likely to be pregnant at younger ages ("Mortality Statistics", 2022). Throughout the state, the percentage of mothers who smoked cigarettes before pregnancy, during pregnancy and in the postpartum period increased between 2017 and 2019 ("PRAMS", 2019), another risk factor for perinatal depression (Ko et al., 2017).

Solutions

Treatment of perinatal depression is important for the perinatal individual, infant and family. Treatment can include therapy, medication, support groups and other interventions ("Perinatal Depression"). Women are more likely to address perinatal depression if they feel empowered and validated by healthcare providers (Byatt et al., 2012). Successful treatment can vary by individual and the context in which they live. Culturally relevant, interpersonal therapy interventions have been shown to be the most effective interventions for socially disadvantaged perinatal individuals (Rojas-García et al., 2014) and healthcare interventions specifically targeted to women of low socio-economic status can help reduce symptoms of perinatal depression among that population (Rojas-García et al., 2014). Interventions that enhance self-esteem and increase an individual's satisfaction with social support have been shown to decrease the burden of depressive symptoms among rural and low income women (Jesse et al., 2014). Cognitive behavioral therapy has also been successful in treating perinatal depression (Huang et al., 2018).

Other research has centered on the importance of involving friends, family and community in the identification and treatment of perinatal depression. One study found that fathers are often unable to detect postpartum depression in their partners though they struggled with the emotional toll of perinatal distress. This demonstrated the need for further resources for partners of individuals with perinatal depression. These resources could include peer support groups to manage the impact of postpartum depression in their partners (Ng et al., 2021). Integrating couples-based interventions in perinatal depression care also may help increase maternal emotional and physical well-being (Misri et al., 2000). Training peer facilitators to help women access community resources is another solution that has been shown to be effective (Slade et al., 2021). Other work has highlighted the need for greater community support outside the home, particularly increased community education in order to improve social support for individuals with perinatal depression and to encourage treatment seeking for women and their families (Sealy et al., 2009).

Telehealth has been explored as a solution in recent years, as described above. Telehealth alternatives to standard care are highly successful in mental healthcare in perinatal individuals (van den Heuvel et al., 2018). One study conducted with women of color suggested that increased access to telehealth and improved provider training in cultural competency and social determinants of health can improve resource accessibility (Iturralde et al., 2021). Overall, telehealth interventions can be structured to meet needs of different communities and can increase access to care, regardless of geography or accessibility to in-person services (Latendresse et al., 2021). Experts have also called for interventions that encourage engagement in online social activities to promote perinatal mental wellness and social engagement (Reay et al., 2020).

My research objectives, to map the resources and services available to individuals at risk of or suffering from perinatal depression in Georgia and to identify the availability and gaps in services for perinatal populations according to medical professionals will provide greater insight into this key public health issue in the state of Georgia.

Chapter 3: Methodology

Determination of Need

Before the initiation of this project I had discussions with Toby Goldsmith, M.D. at PEACE for Moms to discuss their needs as an organization and how this project might be of use. Through our discussions we determined the need for an up to date and accurate resource map for individuals with perinatal depression in Georgia, particularly resources for individuals located outside the Atlanta metro area. In formative online research I determined that a resource such as this did not yet exist and through discussions with Dr. Goldsmith, we determined that it would be of use to PEACE for Moms. We also decided that a method to survey providers about the services they provide, the services that exist in their communities and their awareness of the PEACE for Moms program would provide valuable insight to the resource map and to the organization.

Resource Mapping

Resource map development was accomplished using a method of resource mapping (Zallman et al., 2014) and the services and resources included were found using existing resource lists, online research and provider insight. I compiled resources into a spreadsheet and uploaded into mapping software, Zeemaps ("Zeemaps"). Resources were categorized into the following categories: psychotherapy/psychiatry, mental health centers and programs with a specialty in PMADs, mental health centers and programs with experience treating PMADS, support groups, hospitals, doula services, midwife services, OB/GYN services, other practitioners and other community resources. This classification method was chosen to be consistent with previous resources created in Georgia. I collected information about each resource, including the name of

the organization, name of practitioner, address, zipcode, description, insurance information, email, phone, website and organization category. The spreadsheet was formatted to be compatible with the ZeeMaps software. All details of each resource will be available for PEACE For Moms through the spreadsheet and the ZeeMaps map (See appendix a).

Resource Collection

The first step of resource collection was to utilize the resource lists that had been compiled by other Georgia-based organizations such as Healthy Mothers, Healthy Babies and Project Healthy Moms. All of these lists contained resources used in the final product but all contained inaccurate information on resources whose information had changed or practitioners who were no longer practicing in the state of Georgia. I documented all resources that they included and followed up on each to ensure that all information was correct and up to date. I reviewed the most recent guide created by Project Healthy Moms and Mental Health America of Georgia, available online and last updated in 2016 ("Project Healthy Moms: Resource List for Perinatal Mood and Anxiety Disorders (PMADs)", 2016). I included all resources on that guide and corrected any information that was no longer accurate. I attempted to contact Project Healthy Moms but the email and phone listed were inactive and the website is no longer available. I called other contacts at Mental Health American of Georgia with no response.

I also made use of a resource list of Atlanta area therapists compiled by PEACE for Moms and included updated and detailed information on my final spreadsheet. I searched the Healthy Mothers Healthy Babies online database and included those resources that were available statewide under categories for "perinatal mental health" and "postpartum depression", correcting inaccurate information and updating incomplete information. I also included resources found on postpartumprogress.com, a list of therapists specializing in postpartum depression in different states around the country. I found resources publicized on the Postpartum Support International website and support groups publicized on the Psychology Today website.

After I had exhausted the resource lists that had already been created by other organizations, I used the Google search engine to find further services throughout the state and followed all available links to document organizations and resources that provide services for perinatal individuals. I contacted or extensively researched each organization on the list to ensure that the information was correct. Finally, I used a method of snowball sampling (Hennink et al., 2011) by contacting known organizations that were included in the final resource and requesting their help in locating any other resources available to perinatal individuals in their area. I followed up on all leads and included any resources that were suggested and confirmed. Resource collection concluded at the end of February to leave sufficient time for analysis.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Resources were included that were designed specifically to support the mental health of perinatal individuals or that had documented experience caring for perinatal individuals. Resources were excluded if there was insufficient evidence that they provided perinatal mental health services or if their physical address or contact information was out of date or impossible to verify. Certain information, such as email or insurance information, was not included in the map if it was unavailable online or by a follow-up phone call. Resources were excluded if they no longer existed in the state of Georgia or did not provide services for perinatal individuals. Twenty-two online resources are included in the final resource spreadsheet, though they are not able to be included in the final resource map as they no longer have a physical address. Mapping software was selected based on the software accessibility and price, and the ease of sharing information using an online platform. The final spreadsheet for the resource map was uploaded into the software and further resources can be added should any future updates to the map become necessary. Resource distribution was analyzed using the ZeeMaps software to determine which areas of the state had the greatest concentrations of each resource.

Survey

Survey Development

The goal of the survey was to better understand participants' experience treating perinatal depression, the services offered in their workplace and their familiarity with community resources outside of their workplace. The survey text (See appendix b) was developed in collaboration with PEACE for Moms and feedback from Dr. Goldsmith and Dr. Clark as well as feedback from an OB/GYN and a Clinical Psychologist with experience with perinatal mental health. Questions were refined and changed for clarity and time. Specific questions about PEACE for Moms were also included to provide data regarding awareness of that program amongst perinatal health professionals in Georgia. The survey was designed to be brief to maximize participation amongst the participant population.

Decisions regarding which communities should be targeted in survey sampling were made through discussions with PEACE for Moms as well as informal discussions with healthcare professionals. Listservs and contacts with community organizations and professional associations were discovered through internet searches and through key contacts at PEACE for Moms and Emory University.

Text for the email accompanying the survey was written to share the purpose and methods of the project, request participation and share contact information. Participants were informed that their participation would be anonymous. Promotional graphics, designed to be included as attachments to the email and in any social media posting, were developed using Canva online software ("Canva") (See appendix c).

Survey Dissemination

The survey was disseminated using Google Forms and shared with potential participants via email. The survey was distributed via listservs that agreed to participate in the survey. The listservs used were the Georgia Chapter of Nurse Midwives, the Georgia Rural Health Association, the Georgia Psychological Association, the Metro Atlanta Therapists Network and the Georgia OB/GYN Society. A graphic with the link and information was also distributed via Facebook and online community boards of these organizations when available. All listservs were contacted twice to ensure maximum participation. Other organizations for nurses and mental health professionals were contacted but were unable to disseminate an external resource or unavailable to participate during the requested time frame. The survey was also shared via email to all contacts included in the resource map. Initially, I attempted to contact those resources via phone to provide an option for a phone-based survey but was unable to get in touch with individuals willing to participate in the survey over the phone. Therefore, I determined email to be the best method of dissemination. Snowball sampling (Hennink et al., 2011) was also used by contacting members of the PEACE for Moms network via email to ask for their participation in

the survey. Emailed contacts were also asked to share with other contacts in their network or to suggest further avenues of dissemination.

Survey Analysis

The survey was opened and shared initially on December 8th 2021 and was closed on February 24th 2022 in order to ensure sufficient time for analysis. Analysis was conducted using Excel and SAS software. Qualitative data was analyzed separately using word processing software. Data was compiled and shared with PEACE for Moms. In analysis, data respondents were categorized into four categories for ease of analysis, "physician", "mental health professional", "midwife" and "other". This method was chosen in order to compare responses across diverse professions. Participants were given the opportunity to skip any question they did not choose to answer and were able to select more than one professional role, or to write in their professional role if none of the available options fit their role.

Incentive

Participation was anonymous, emails from participants were collected if participants wanted to be considered for a chance to win a \$50 Amazon gift card that PEACE for Moms donated as an incentive for participation. Participants were informed of the incentive in the survey text as well as in all emails and promotional graphics. Only those respondents who wished to be considered were asked to share an email. The winning entry was selected using a random number generator and sent to the winner via email. In October 2021 I submitted a Determination Form to the Emory University Institutional Review Board (IRB). Following review of the materials used in this project, IRB concluded that this project did not meet the qualifications of "Research" under federal regulations and did not require an IRB review.

MMRC Data Collection

Requests were repeatedly submitted to the Georgia Department of Public Health and the Georgia Maternal Mortality Committee (MMRC) for data on pregnancy related deaths associated with mental health diagnoses and substance abuse disorders throughout the state of Georgia. These data were planned to supplement the resource mapping process by identifying the areas of the state with the highest instances of death and how they may relate to service availability. Data were never released and the request remains under review.

Chapter 4: Results

Resource Map Results

The final resource map included 237 resources comprised of 105 psychotherapists and psychiatrists, 62 mental health centers and programs with experience treating perinatal depression, 27 support groups, 21 mental health centers and programs with a specialty in perinatal depression, 4 midwife services, 4 hospitals, 3 doula services and 1 OB/GYN clinic. These resources, though certainly not an exhaustive list of all resources made available in Georgia, include all the resources that are widely publicized by common perinatal mental health services and websites in Georgia as well as those resources publicized most widely online.

Location

Most resources were clustered in the northern half of Georgia, particularly in the metro Atlanta area, which is defined as Clayton, Cobb, Coweta, Dekalb, Douglas, Gwinnett, Henry, Fayette, & Fulton counties. Sixty (25%) of all resources were found within the city of Atlanta alone. Larger organizations designed to support perinatal populations in Georgia are often based in Atlanta, and the resources they publicized are also based in Atlanta. The most common resource found was psychotherapist/psychiatrist though very few therapists were found outside of the Atlanta metro area. In addition, most mental health centers with a specific specialty in perinatal depression were found in the Atlanta metro area. Health centers with experience treating perinatal depression were the most widely dispersed resource throughout the state, though these centers may not provide specialty services for perinatal depression. Few resources were found in the southern half of the state, particularly in the Southwest. No support groups were located in southern Georgia. Former resource lists published online do not have large numbers of non-English resources. The only resources I found that are offered to non-English speakers provide support to Spanish speaking populations. The majority of these non-English resources are located in and around Atlanta though are not well publicized by Georgia perinatal health resources and websites.

Resource Type

Most resources found were designed to support the individual, rather than a family unit or community. In addition, most resources found are designed to support individuals with postpartum depression with less emphasis placed on mental health during pregnancy. Low cost resources or resources designed for low-income populations were uncommon. Insurance information was difficult or impossible to locate for many of the resources. In addition, some resources that accepted insurance in the past have shifted to a payment structure that no longer accepts it. Most therapists included in this map are out of network providers. Though some therapists and resources offer sliding scale options for populations that cannot afford the fee, several resources that publicized a sliding scale option in the past no longer do so.

Resource Mapping Process

The process of resource mapping revealed high levels of inaccuracy and lack of up-todate information available online for individuals with perinatal depression. Most websites and databases have not changed their online resource information after the COVID-19 pandemic. It was common throughout the process to come across broken links, change in insurance information, retirement or relocation of the practitioner. Many phone numbers and emails publicized online are no longer active. Many therapists have moved their services online which allows them to serve the entire state of Georgia, though they no longer see patients in person. Many support groups that existed prior to the pandemic are no longer active or exist in an online format. The process also revealed how challenging it is to find resources in rural areas despite specific searches and outreach to those areas. For example, in exploring websites specifically designed to match Georgians with therapists, few were listed and publicized outside of the Atlanta metro area.

Survey Results

The survey received 64 total responses. The respondents self-identified as Physician, Licensed Professional Counselor, Clinical Social Worker, Psychologist, Clinical Nurse Midwife, Certified Professional Midwife, Master of Social Work Intern, Women's Health Nurse Practitioner, Certified Nurse Midwife, Public Health Educator, Holistic Birth and Postpartum Doula, Family Nurse Practitioner, Peer Support Specialist, Clinical Specialist and Licensed Marriage and Family Therapist These respondents were categorized into four categories: Physician, 25% (n=16), Mental health professional, 32.8% (n=21), Midwife, 34.4% (n=22) and Other, 7.8% n=5.

Table 2. Respondent Demographics			
Туре	Count	Percentage	
	n=		
Physician	16	25%	
Licensed Professional	19	29.7%	
Counselor/Clinical Social			
Worker/Psychologist			
Clinical Nurse Midwife	20	31.3%	
Certified Professional	1	1.6%	
Midwife			
Master of Social Work intern	1	1.6%	
Women's Health Nurse	1	1.6%	
Practitioner			

Certified Nurse Midwife	1	1.6%
Public Health Educator	1	1.6%
Peer Support Specialist	1	1.6%
Clinical Specialist	1	1.6%
Licensed marriage and family	1	1.6%
therapist		

Workplace

Respondents worked in private for profit facilities, private non-profit facilities and public facilities (See Table 3). Overall, 68% (n=43) of respondents worked in a private for profit facility, 17.5% (n=11) worked in a private non-profit facility and 14.3% (n=11) worked in a public facility. Respondents were also asked about their specific workplace environment. 34% of respondents (n=21) worked in a hospital, 32% (n=20) worked in a doctor's office or health clinic. 26% (n=16) worked in a private practice. 5% (n=3) worked in a birth center/midwifery clinic. 2% (n=1) worked in each of the following: community health facility, a free clinic, a home office, self-employed, mobile based care and a university.

Table 3. Workplace Type				
	Private For-Profit	Private Non-profit	Public	
Physician	81.3% (n=13)	12.5% (n=2)	6.3% (n=1)	
Mental Health	85.7% (n=18)	9.5% (n=2)	4.8% (n=1)	
Professional				
Midwife	54.5% (n=12)	27.3% (n=6)	18.2% (n=4)	
Other	0% (n=0)	25% (n=1)	75% (n=3)	
Total	68% (n=43)	17.5% (n=11)	14.3% (n=9)	

County

Of the counties represented in the study population, only 18% (n=10) of respondents worked outside of the Atlanta metro area. Survey respondents worked in in following counties:

Fulton, Dekalb, Cobb, Gwinnett, Clayton, Fayette, Bibb, Chatham, Cherokee, Douglas, Forsyth,
Clarke, Coweta, Habersham, Hall, Henry, Morgan, Muscogee, Spalding and Upson (See Figure
1). Two mental health professionals noted that they worked in telehealth and through online
services were able to provide care to individuals in all counties in Georgia.



Services Provided

In response to a question regarding the mental health support that their workplace provide to perinatal individuals, respondents reported a variety of services provided. 77.8% (n=49) of respondents' workplaces provide assessment, 68.3% (n=43) provide referral to other organization, 44.4% (n=43) provide counseling, 57.1% provide education (n=36), 39.7% (n=25) provide psychotherapy, 31.7% (n=20) provide psychiatric medication management, 19% (n=12) provide support groups. 14.3% (n=9) provide psychotherapy groups, 1.6% (n=1) provide medication information, 1.6% (n=1) said that they did not know and 4.8% (n=3) said none.

Mental Health Needs Met

When asked how well their workplace meets the mental health needs of perinatal individuals, respondents rated their workplace on a scale of 1-5 with 1 meaning "meets no needs" and 5 meaning "meets all needs" (See Figure 2). Mental health professionals were most likely to report that their workplace was meeting the mental health needs of perinatal individuals. Mental health professionals scored their workplace with a mean of 4.15, physicians reported a mean of 3.06, midwives reported a mean of 2.73 and other respondents reported a mean of 2.75.



Community Support

Though not all respondents felt that their workplace met mental health needs of perinatal individuals, 71.4% (n=45) of respondents found mental health care during and after pregnancy to be extremely important to the community they work in. In response to a question about
where perinatal individuals not seen in respondents' facility find mental health support in their community (See Table 3), respondents said mental health professionals, family, friends, church/religious institution, medical professionals, the internet, community centers, virtual and in-person support groups, Facebook groups and school or academic institutions. 12.5% (n=8) said that they didn't know. One clinical specialist said, "I don't think they get care in general".

When asked if they were aware of specific programs in their community that provide mental health support to perinatal individuals, 51.6% (n=33) of respondents said yes and 48.4% (n=31) said no. 68.8% (n=11) of physicians reported that they were not aware of specific programs in their community that provided mental health support to perinatal individuals. 33.3% (n=7) of mental health professionals were not aware of specific programs in their communities, 50% (n=11) of midwives were not aware of specific programs and 80% (n=4) of other respondents were not aware of specific programs in their community.

When asked to name the resources that exist in communities for perinatal individuals, only 40.6% (n=26) of respondents provided examples of places where perinatal individuals can find support. The most common responses were resources such as Postpartum Support International, Emory Women's Mental Health Program and PEACE for Moms. Other respondents mentioned that women find support from therapists or support groups. No respondent provided an example of a specific resource outside of Atlanta. One clinical nurse midwife identified that cost was a barrier to many of these resources.

Table 4. Where Perinatal Individuals Find Support			
Туре	Count	Percentage	
	n=		
Mental health professionals	51	79.7%	
Family	37	57.8%	
Friends	35	54.7%	

Church/religious institutions	36	56.3%
Medical professionals	30	46.9%
Internet	30	46.9%
Community centers	13	20.3%
Support groups	2	3%
Facebook groups	1	1.6%
School/academic institutions	1	1.6%
Don't know	8	12.5%

Additional Resources Needed

When asked about the additional resources that are needed for pregnant and postpartum people in either their workplace or community, 75% of respondents provided insight into the resources that are needed. There were many suggestions that were provided, with high levels of need identified in various aspects of perinatal mental healthcare. More mental health providers and support groups was the most common suggestion, many respondents specified that there were few providers that had training to address the needs of perinatal mental health concerns in their region. It was also a common response that affordability is an issue and that few mental health professionals accept payment from insurance, specifically Medicaid. One respondent said, "most therapy groups are not covered by insurance which makes people think they are not needed." The lack of resources within communities is a cause for concern. One respondent said, "There is a real lack of community and systemic support for the postpartum period in terms of both physical and mental health. We need to make maternal mental health a more routine point of care." Another respondent noted that their area was "starved" for services.

Others noted the need to train all healthcare providers in perinatal mental health concerns and to prioritize mental health needs throughout the pregnancy. Training OB/GYNs and other healthcare providers to be "'perinatal mental health informed' healthcare providers" was also brought up as a particular need. Many respondents noted the need for information about referral options and the resources that are available. One respondent said there was a need for "lists of perinatal mental health providers in the area".

PEACE for Moms

Overall, the majority (67.2%, n=43) of respondents were not familiar with PEACE for Moms. Mental health professionals were most likely to be aware of the PEACE for Moms program (52.4%, n=11) whereas smaller percentages of other groups: 37.5% (n=6) of Physicians and 13.6% (n=3) of midwives were familiar with the program.

PEACE for Moms provides consultation services, support groups, one-time psychiatric medication consultation, one-time in-person patient evaluations, clinician to clinician consultation, referral and resource dissemination and education. In answering questions about the services that PEACE for Mom's provides, 53% (n=14) of respondents correctly identified that PEACE for Moms provides clinician to clinician consultation, referral and resource dissemination and education, s8.5% (n=10) correctly identified that PEACE for Moms provides support groups and 15.4% (n=4) correctly identified that PEACE for Moms provides in-person patient evaluations. However, respondents incorrectly identified counseling (34.6%, n=9), Psychotherapy groups (23.1%, n=6), Psychotherapy (11.5%, n=3) and Psychiatric medication management (23.1%, n=6) as services provided by PEACE for Moms. Only 26 respondents answered this question, 40.6% of the study population.

Maternal Mortality Review Committee Data

Data was requested repeatedly from the Georgia Maternal Mortality Committee (MMRC) in order to analyze those areas of the state with highest incidence of maternal mortality related to a mental health condition during pregnancy and in the postpartum period. Data was requested in September 2022 and has not been released by the MMRC as of April 2022. Therefore, no analyses of this type have been done.

Chapter 5: Discussion

The process of survey analysis and resource mapping made clear that significant access problems exist in the state of Georgia for perinatal mental health resources. Though the literature outlines the importance of this support both for the individual ("Screening for Perinatal Depression," 2018), their family (Misri et al., 2000; Ng et al., 2021) and their community (Sealy et al., 2009), this project revealed that much work needs to be done before that goal is achieved.

Financial and geographic accessibility are causes for concern, brought up by survey respondents and supported by results in the resource map. Many survey respondents wrote that the most common place that perinatal individuals find mental health support is from mental health professionals, and yet those services can be inaccessible geographically and financially. Few resources found were located in rural areas and the mapping process revealed large areas of the state without documented mental health resources. Though other resources may exist throughout the rural regions of the state that are not captured in this map, they were difficult to locate despite an extensive search, potentially indicating that they do not receive publicity or recognition from resource lists and statewide organizations based in Atlanta. This might make it more difficult for perinatal populations to find them, adding another level of inaccessibility. Even within cities, accessibility may still be an issue. Many of the services provided throughout the state are private, with few public and low cost options, particularly options that accept insurance. Lack of insurance coverage for mental health professionals and low levels of resource accessibility means that mental health support might be difficult to find for low-income or rural individuals. This is a problem that may be worsening, I found more offers of sliding scales and financial aid in older resource guides and lists. The mapping process revealed fewer private providers that offer those options in 2022.

In the mapping process, the resource most widely dispersed throughout the state was found to be health centers with experience treating PMADs, most of which are community health centers and community mental health services. However, many of those centers don't offer the same specialized services as the smaller, private organizations. Detailed analysis of the particular services offered at these institutions is beyond the scope of this project, but further research may be needed on specific services that are available at these facilities and their ability to support the needs of perinatal populations.

Another issue that arose in the resource mapping process was the lack of up to date resource information for perinatal populations. This would indicate that individuals searching for perinatal mental health resources online would come across a considerable amount of inaccurate and out of date information, though from highly respected sources. This is particularly problematic because 20% of healthcare workers surveyed stated that the internet was a place where perinatal individuals find support. The high levels of inaccuracies found in resource guides and lists that are available to the public online may lengthen the process of finding resources for perinatal populations. Out of date services and information could discourage perinatal individuals from persevering to find support due to low quality information online. The difficulty in finding insurance or payment information is also a factor that may be discouraging for individuals looking for services. More research should be conducted regarding these barriers and the ways in which they impact perinatal mental health support.

Information accessibility was a challenge throughout the process of completing this project. Data was repeatedly requested from the Georgia Department of Public Health and the Maternal Mortality Review Committee on pregnancy related deaths associated with mental health diagnoses and substance abuse disorders. Requests were repeated over a period of seven months and the request is still under review. This challenge in data access is an example of a failure of information transparency and a difficulty in understanding the needs of perinatal populations in the state of Georgia. These data would have added another dimension to this project and may be important in understanding the areas of the state with high levels of need. Further research should center on the varying needs throughout the state so that programs, such as PEACE for Moms, may address them.

There may be avenues to improve service including the expansion into telehealth. A search of clinical providers and therapists on Psychology Today revealed many options of providers who offer telehealth services. These providers can therefore offer support to individuals throughout the state of Georgia, even those in rural areas without access to in-person services. Survey respondents also identified telehealth as a potential improvement to service access in Georgia. However, this does not address the issue of cost and accessibility. Many of these services are still cost prohibitive and require a stable and safe internet connection. Even with the expansion into telehealth, this process revealed very few free and low cost services.

Strengths

A strength of this project is its immediate usefulness to PEACE for Moms and the ways in which this information can be utilized to support perinatal mental health in Georgia. This project fills an information gap that was highlighted by healthcare providers in the survey, the need for updated information regarding perinatal mental health resources that can be utilized by providers. In addition, this project's multi-pronged approach of survey analysis and resource mapping provides a multi-leveled benefit to PEACE for Moms in its ability to both provide feedback on the ways in which the program is currently perceived by providers and resources that can directly benefit its programming.

Limitations

There are certain limitations to both the resource map and the survey. As the COVID-19 pandemic is dynamic and changing, the availability of resources may change following termination of this project. This may cause location and availability of resources included on the map to be inaccurate. This resource map is far from a complete map of all resources that exist in Georgia as a time limit needed to be placed on this project due to the time constraints of a thesis project. Additionally, the contacts and survey respondents that I was able to get in touch with are primarily urban, leading to a lack of data and resource documented from rural areas and areas outside the Atlanta Metropolitan Area. Due to the timing of this project, it may have been challenging for providers to take the time to respond to a survey during the pandemic due to high levels of workload and pandemic concerns. The low number of survey responses signify that these data are preliminary, and should be built upon in the future with greater number of contacts. The resource map should be considered an initial resource that can become a living document, updated according to current available resources in the state.

Future Use

The resource map and spreadsheet have been made available to PEACE for Moms for their future use and program development. The ZeeMaps software can be imbedded into website in order to share this information more widely with patients and community members. The data received from the survey has also been made available to PEACE for Moms to inform relationships with community providers.

37

Resources such as this will provide much needed information for perinatal patients as well as care providers. PEACE for Moms can begin to address the information gap among providers though sharing this resource with the wider community. In addition, it may be important for PEACE for Moms to clarify the services it provides to patients and to publicize its presence, due to the low levels of awareness of the program articulated by survey respondents. Survey respondents incorrectly assumed that PEACE for Moms is primarily a clinical service rather than a referral based program. Future advertising and outreach may be focused on addressing this misunderstanding. Finally, outreach to churches, communities and families to educate these populations on methods and strategies to provide support to perinatal individuals as well as the development of resources specifically targeted to them may be a future direction for PEACE for Moms or other organizations in Georgia.

This project highlighted the importance of the work that PEACE for Moms does in Georgia. Survey respondents highlighted the need to improve training for healthcare providers, educate physicians about the needs of this population and provide information to healthcare professionals. All of these services, provided by PEACE for Moms, are an essential addition to perinatal care in Georgia.

Conclusion

In the development of the resource map I achieved the two aims of my project. I was able to develop an up-to-date resource map of perinatal mental health resources in Georgia, to my knowledge the only current resource available at this time. I was able to conduct analyses on the services provided by healthcare providers and to analyze their suggestions and opinions on the unmet needs in their communities. In achieving my aims, I created a resource that will help PEACE for Moms in the development of their services and may also help individuals with perinatal depression and their caregivers. This project served to improve access to information regarding perinatal mental health resources and also helped to illustrate the barriers that many face in utilizing these services due to lack of accessibility.

This analysis also raised concerns about resource accessibility throughout the state and the need for increased access to services for rural and low income populations and resources designed to support communities and families of individuals with perinatal depression. Populations throughout the state may benefit from improved resource accessibility in an important time for mental healthcare support.

Further program development should take place to help individuals of lower income and in rural areas access perinatal mental health services. Furthermore, further research should analyze how low rates of insurance acceptance from mental health professionals can impact mental health needs and resource utilization among perinatal populations. Future development of this resource should include more areas of the state and include efforts to stay current as more resources are perinatal resources are developed in Georgia.

Appendix A1. Resource Map - Georigia



Legend

Red: Psychotherapy/psychiatry, Blue: Mental health centers and programs with a specialty in PMADs, Green: Mental health centers and programs with experience treating PMADS, Yellow: Support group, Orange: Hospital, White: Doula services, Black: Other community resource, Purple: mMidwife services, Light Blue: OB/GYN Services

Appendix A2. Resource Map – Detail View



Legend

Red: Psychotherapy/psychiatry, Blue: Mental health centers and programs with a specialty in PMADs, Green: Mental health centers and programs with experience treating PMADS, Yellow: Support group, Orange: Hospital, White: Doula services, Black: Other community resource, Purple: mMidwife services, Light Blue: OB/GYN Services

Appendix B. Survey instrument

Thank you for taking the time to complete this 5 minute anonymous survey on the mental health resources for people receiving perinatal services in the state of Georgia. This survey will inform a thesis project for a masters student at the Rollins School of Public Health in collaboration with the Peace for Moms Program at Emory University.

In this survey when we refer to perinatal people we are referring to pregnant individuals or those who have recently given birth. All individuals who complete the survey will be eligible to win a \$50 Amazon gift card.

- 1. What is your current position?
 - Physician
 - Psychologist/LPC/LCSW
 - Physician's Assistant
 - Clinical Nurse Midwife
 - Certified Professional Midwife
 - RN/LPN
 - Administrative Clinic or Hospital Staff
 - Other _____
- 2. Do you work in a private or a public facility?
 - Private for profit
 - Private nonprofit
 - Public
- 3. What type of health facility do you work in? Hospital
 - Doctor's Office or Health Clinic
 - State Health Department Facility
 - Community Health Facility
 - Other
- 4. What county do you work in?
- 5. Which of the following services is provided to perinatal individuals in your workplace? Check all that apply.
 - Ob/gyn
 - Prenatal Services
 - Midwifery Services
 - Newborn Care
 - Parenting Classes
 - Family Planning
 - Other _____

- None of the above
- 6. What mental health support does your workplace provide for perinatal individuals? Check all that apply.
 - Assessment
 - Counseling
 - Support Groups
 - Psychotherapy Groups
 - Psychotherapy
 - Psychiatric Medication Management
 - Referral to other organization
 - Education
 - Other _____
 - None
- How well do you think your workplace is meeting the mental health needs of perinatal individuals? (1-5 with 1 meaning "meet no needs' and 5 meaning "meeting all needs") 1 2 3 4 5
- 8. How important is mental health care during and after pregnancy to the community you work in? (1-5 with one meaning "not at all important" and 5 meaning "extremely important") 1 2 3 4 5
- 9. Where do perinatal individuals not seen in your facility find mental health support in your community? Select all that apply.
 - Mental Health Professionals
 - Medical Professionals
 - Church or other religious institution
 - Community Centers
 - Family
 - Friends
 - The Internet
 - School or academic institutions
 - Other
 - Don't Know
- 10. Are you aware of specific programs in your community that provides mental health support to perinatal individuals? Yes / No

Please list below:

11. What additional resources are needed for pregnant and postpartum people in either your workplace or your community?

12. Are you familiar with the PEACE for Moms Program? Yes/No

13. What services do they offer? Check all that apply.

- Assessment
- Counseling
- Support groups
- Psychotherapy groups
- Psychotherapy
- Psychiatric medication management
- Psychiatric medication consultation
- In-person patient evaluations
- Clinician to Clinician consultation
- Referral and resource dissemination
- Education
- 14. If you would like to be entered to win the Amazon gift card please write your email below (your email will not be used for any reason other than gift card dissemination and will not be connected to your responses) ______

Mental Health Services in		
the Perinatal	Period Survey	
Request		
Chance to w	ina	
\$50 Amazon		
Gift Card!	Data will inform a	
	master's thesis at the Rollins School of Public	
	Health at Emory University	

Please consider taking this 5 minute anonymous survey. Follow the QR Code for more information.

References

- ACOG Committee Opinion No. 757 Summary: Screening for Perinatal Depression. (2018). Obstet Gynecol, 132(5), 1314-1316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/aog.00000000002928</u>
- Baibazarova, E., van de Beek, C., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., Buitelaar, J., Shelton, K. H., & van Goozen, S. H. (2013). Influence of prenatal maternal stress, maternal plasma cortisol and cortisol in the amniotic fluid on birth outcomes and child temperament at 3 months. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *38*(6), 907-915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.09.015
- Beck, A. J., Page, C., Buche, J., Rittman, D., & Gaiser, M. (2018). *Estimating the Distribution of the U.S. Psychiatric*
- Subspecialist Workforce. U. o. M. B. H. W. R. Center. <u>https://www.behavioralhealthworkforce.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Y3-FA2-P2-</u> <u>Psych-Sub_Full-Report-FINAL2.19.2019.pdf</u>
- Byatt, N., Simas, T. A., Lundquist, R. S., Johnson, J. V., & Ziedonis, D. M. (2012). Strategies for improving perinatal depression treatment in North American outpatient obstetric settings. *J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol*, 33(4), 143-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/0167482x.2012.728649</u>
- Canva. https://www.canva.com/
- Chmielewska, B., Barratt, I., Townsend, R., Kalafat, E., van der Meulen, J., Gurol-Urganci, I., . . . Khalil, A. (2021). Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on maternal and perinatal outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Glob Health*, 9(6), e759-e772. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(21)00079-6</u>
- Crowe, S., & Sarma, K. (2022). Coping with Covid-19: stress, control and coping among pregnant women in Ireland during the Covid-19 pandemic. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 22(1), 274. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-022-04579-1
- De Crescenzo, F., Perelli, F., Armando, M., & Vicari, S. (2014). Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) for post-partum depression (PPD): A systematic review of randomized clinical trials. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *152-154*, 39-44. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.09.019
- Depression During and After Pregnancy. Centers for Disease Control. https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/features/maternal-depression/index.html
- Ginja, S., Jackson, K., Newham, J. J., Henderson, E. J., Smart, D., & Lingam, R. (2020). Ruralurban differences in the mental health of perinatal women: a UK-based cross-sectional study. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*, 20(1), 464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-03132-2</u>
- Gürber, S., Bielinski-Blattmann, D., Lemola, S., Jaussi, C., von Wyl, A., Surbek, D., . . .
 Stadlmayr, W. (2012). Maternal mental health in the first 3-week postpartum: the impact of caregiver support and the subjective experience of childbirth a longitudinal path model. *J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol*, 33(4), 176-184.
 https://doi.org/10.3109/0167482x.2012.730584
- Hennink, M., Hutter, I., & Bailey, A. (2011). *Qualitative Research Methods*. SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Hermon, N., Wainstock, T., Sheiner, E., Golan, A., & Walfisch, A. (2019). Impact of maternal depression on perinatal outcomes in hospitalized women-a prospective study. *Arch Womens Ment Health*, 22(1), 85-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-018-0883-5</u>

- Huang, L., Zhao, Y., Qiang, C., & Fan, B. (2018). Is cognitive behavioral therapy a better choice for women with postnatal depression? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS one*, *13*(10), e0205243-e0205243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0205243</u>
- Iturralde, E., Hsiao, C. A., Nkemere, L., Kubo, A., Sterling, S. A., Flanagan, T., & Avalos, L. A. (2021). Engagement in perinatal depression treatment: a qualitative study of barriers across and within racial/ethnic groups. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*, 21(1), 512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-021-03969-1</u>
- Jesse, D. E., Kim, H., & Herndon, C. (2014). Social support and self-esteem as mediators between stress and antepartum depressive symptoms in rural pregnant women. *Res Nurs Health*, 37(3), 241-252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21600</u>
- Kingston, D., Tough, S., & Whitfield, H. (2012). Prenatal and postpartum maternal psychological distress and infant development: a systematic review. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev*, 43(5), 683-714. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-012-0291-4</u>
- Ko, J. Y., Rockhill, K. M., Tong, V. T., Morrow, B., & Farr, S. L. (2017). Trends in Postpartum Depressive Symptoms - 27 States, 2004, 2008, and 2012. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*, 66(6), 153-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6606a1</u>
- Lancaster, C. A., Gold, K. J., Flynn, H. A., Yoo, H., Marcus, S. M., & Davis, M. M. (2010). Risk factors for depressive symptoms during pregnancy: a systematic review. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 202(1), 5-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2009.09.007</u>
- Latendresse, G., Bailey, E., Iacob, E., Murphy, H., Pentecost, R., Thompson, N., & Hogue, C. (2021). A Group Videoconference Intervention for Reducing Perinatal Depressive Symptoms: A Telehealth Pilot Study. J Midwifery Womens Health, 66(1), 70-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.13209</u>
- Maunder, R., Hunter, J., Vincent, L., Bennett, J., Peladeau, N., Leszcz, M., . . . Mazzulli, T. (2003). The immediate psychological and occupational impact of the 2003 SARS outbreak in a teaching hospital. *Cmaj*, *168*(10), 1245-1251.
- McDonald, W. M. (2013). Workforce Shortage in Mental Health Care.
- Misri, S., Kostaras, X., Fox, D., & Kostaras, D. (2000). The impact of partner support in the treatment of postpartum depression. *Can J Psychiatry*, *45*(6), 554-558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370004500607</u>
- Mollard, E., Hudson, D. B., Ford, A., & Pullen, C. (2016). An Integrative Review of Postpartum Depression in Rural U.S. Communities. Arch Psychiatr Nurs, 30(3), 418-424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2015.12.003</u>
- Morales, D. A., Barksdale, C. L., & Beckel-Mitchener, A. C. (2020). A call to action to address rural mental health disparities. *Journal of clinical and translational science*, *4*(5), 463-467. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/cts.2020.42</u>
- Ng, K. L., Buvanaswari, P., Loh, L. W. L., Chee, C. Y. I., Teng, J. Y., Wang, W., & He, H. G. (2021). A descriptive qualitative study exploring the experiences of fathers with partners suffering from maternal perinatal depression. *Midwifery*, 102, 103075. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2021.103075</u>
- O'Hara, M. W., & Swain, A. M. (1996). Rates and risk of postpartum depression—a metaanalysis. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 8(1), 37-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/09540269609037816</u>
- O'Hara, M. W., & Wisner, K. L. (2014). Perinatal mental illness: definition, description and aetiology. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol*, 28(1), 3-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2013.09.002</u>

OASIS Web Query - Mortality Statistics. (2022).

https://oasis.state.ga.us/oasis/webquery/qryPregnancy.aspx

- Pavlov, M., Steiner, N., Kessous, R., Weintraub, A. Y., & Sheiner, E. (2014). Obstetric and neonatal outcome in patients with anxiety disorders. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med*, 27(13), 1339-1342. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/14767058.2013.858242</u>
- Peace for Moms. Emory University School of Medicine. https://med.emory.edu/departments/psychiatry/programs/peace/index.html
- Pearlstein, T., Howard, M., Salisbury, A., & Zlotnick, C. (2009). Postpartum depression. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 200(4), 357-364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2008.11.033</u>
- Perinatal Depression. National Institute of Mental Health. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/perinatal-depression
- Perinatal or Postpartum Mood and Anxiety Disorders. Children's Hospital of Philadelphia. Retrieved 2022 from <u>https://www.chop.edu/conditions-diseases/perinatal-or-postpartum-mood-and-anxiety-</u>

disorders#:~:text=Perinatal%20or%20postpartum%20mood%20and%20anxiety%20disor der%20(PMAD)%20is%20the,be%20mild%2C%20moderate%20or%20severe.

- Postpartum depression. (2018). Mayo Clinic. <u>https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-</u> conditions/postpartum-depression/symptoms-causes/syc-20376617
- Prevalence of Selected Maternal and Child Health Indicators for Georgia, Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS), 2016–2019. (2019). C. f. D. Control. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/prams/prams-data/mch-</u> <u>indicators/states/pdf/2019/Georgia_PRAMS_Prevalence-of-Selected-Indicators_2016-</u> 2019_508.pdf
- Project Healthy Moms: Resource List for Perinatal Mood and Anxiety Disorders (PMADs). (2016).
- Punamäki, R. L., Repokari, L., Vilska, S., Poikkeus, P., Tiitinen, A., Sinkkonen, J., & Tulppala, M. (2006). Maternal mental health and medical predictors of infant developmental and health problems from pregnancy to one year: does former infertility matter? *Infant Behav Dev*, 29(2), 230-242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2005.12.001</u>
- Reay, R. E., Looi, J. C., & Keightley, P. (2020). Telehealth mental health services during COVID-19: summary of evidence and clinical practice. *Australas Psychiatry*, 28(5), 514-516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1039856220943032</u>
- Robertson, E., Grace, S., Wallington, T., & Stewart, D. E. (2004). Antenatal risk factors for postpartum depression: a synthesis of recent literature. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*, 26(4), 289-295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2004.02.006</u>
- Rojas-García, A., Ruíz-Pérez, I., Gonçalves, D. C., Rodríguez-Barranco, M., & Ricci-Cabello, I. (2014). Healthcare interventions for perinatal depression in socially disadvantaged women: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 21(4), 363-384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0101725</u>
- Rouhe, H., Salmela-Aro, K., Toivanen, R., Tokola, M., Halmesmäki, E., Ryding, E. L., & Saisto, T. (2015). Group psychoeducation with relaxation for severe fear of childbirth improves maternal adjustment and childbirth experience--a randomised controlled trial. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol, 36(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.3109/0167482x.2014.980722
- Sealy, P. A., Fraser, J., Simpson, J. P., Evans, M., & Hartford, A. (2009). Community awareness of postpartum depression. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs, 38(2), 121-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1552-6909.2009.01001.x</u>

- Segre, L. S., Stuart, S., & O'Hara, M. W. (2004). Interpersonal Psychotherapy for Antenatal and Postpartum Depression. *Primary Psychiatry*, 11(3), 52-56, 66.
- Shidhaye, R., Madhivanan, P., Shidhaye, P., & Krupp, K. (2020). An Integrated Approach to Improve Maternal Mental Health and Well-Being During the COVID-19 Crisis. Front Psychiatry, 11, 598746. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.598746</u>
- Slade, P., Dembinsky, M., Bristow, K., Garthwaite, K., Mahdi, A., James, A., . . . Downe, S. (2021). Facilitating Perinatal Access to Resources and Support (PeARS): a feasibility study with external pilot of a novel intervention. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 21(1), 769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-021-04112-w</u>
- Slomian, J., Honvo, G., Emonts, P., Reginster, J. Y., & Bruyère, O. (2019). Consequences of maternal postpartum depression: A systematic review of maternal and infant outcomes. *Womens Health (Lond)*, 15, 1745506519844044. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745506519844044
- Slykerman, R. F., Thompson, J. M., Clark, P. M., Becroft, D. M., Robinson, E., Pryor, J. E., ... Mitchell, E. A. (2007). Determinants of developmental delay in infants aged 12 months. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*, 21(2), 121-128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2007.00796.x</u>
- Stein, A., Gath, D. H., Bucher, J., Bond, A., Day, A., & Cooper, P. J. (1991). The relationship between post-natal depression and mother-child interaction. *Br J Psychiatry*, 158, 46-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.158.1.46</u>
- Tang, X., Lu, Z., Hu, D., & Zhong, X. (2019). Influencing factors for prenatal Stress, anxiety and depression in early pregnancy among women in Chongqing, China. J Affect Disord, 253, 292-302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.05.003</u>
- Tani, F., & Castagna, V. (2017). Maternal social support, quality of birth experience, and postpartum depression in primiparous women. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med, 30(6), 689-692. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14767058.2016.1182980</u>
- van den Heuvel, J. F., Groenhof, T. K., Veerbeek, J. H., van Solinge, W. W., Lely, A. T., Franx, A., & Bekker, M. N. (2018). eHealth as the Next-Generation Perinatal Care: An Overview of the Literature. *J Med Internet Res*, 20(6), e202. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9262</u>
- Vigod, S. N., Tarasoff, L. A., Bryja, B., Dennis, C.-L., Yudin, M. H., & Ross, L. E. (2013). Relation between place of residence and postpartum depression. *CMAJ* : *Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne*, 185(13), 1129-1135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.122028</u>
- Vigod, S. N., Villegas, L., Dennis, C. L., & Ross, L. E. (2010). Prevalence and risk factors for postpartum depression among women with preterm and low-birth-weight infants: a systematic review. *Bjog*, 117(5), 540-550. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-</u> 0528.2009.02493.x
- Walker, E. R., Berry, F. W., 3rd, Citron, T., Fitzgerald, J., Rapaport, M. H., Stephens, B., & Druss, B. G. (2015). Psychiatric workforce needs and recommendations for the community mental health system: a state needs assessment. *Psychiatric services* (*Washington, D.C.*), 66(2), 115-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201400530</u>
- Wassef, A., & Wassef, E. (2022). Telemedicine in perinatal mental health: perspectives. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol, 1-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0167482x.2021.2024162</u>

- Wilson, L. M., Reid, A. J., Midmer, D. K., Biringer, A., Carroll, J. C., & Stewart, D. E. (1996). Antenatal psychosocial risk factors associated with adverse postpartum family outcomes. *Cmaj*, 154(6), 785-799.
- Wouk, K., Stuebe, A. M., & Meltzer-Brody, S. (2017). Postpartum Mental Health and Breastfeeding Practices: An Analysis Using the 2010-2011 Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System. *Matern Child Health J*, 21(3), 636-647. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-016-2150-6</u>
- Zallman, L., Ibekwe, L., Thompson, J., Ross-Degnan, D., & Oken, E. (2014). Development of a Mapped Diabetes Community Program Guide for a Safety Net Population. *Diabetes Educ*, 40(4), 453-461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721714531076</u>

Zeemaps. Retrieved 2022 from https://www.zeemaps.com/

Zertuche, A., & Spelke, B. (2013). Georgia's Obstetric Care Shortage. In: Georgia's General Assembly Joint Study Committee on Medicaid Reform.